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"IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT| APH T 4 2004

FOR THE DISTRICT OF NEVADA CLERK US DISTRICT URT
: - DISTRICT OF NEVACS]AURT Mz

_ sy _
JARED JIBBEN, ) CV NO S-02-003FBAE~ R )= DEPUIY
o ) |
" Plamtiff, . ) ~
) |
VS, | } | {
| - | )
UNITED PARCEL SERVICE, )
| | )
Defendant. ) =3
) 5

ORDER DENYING DEFENDANT’S
MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT

The court heard Defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgment on
March 25, 2004. Victor M. Perri, Esq., appeared at the hearing on Behalf of
Plaintiff; Louis E. Garfinkel, Esq., Robert K. Jones, Esq., Catherine L. Dehlin,
- Esq., and Sandra J. Creta, Esq., appeared at the hearing on behalf of Defendant.
After reviewing the motion and the supporting and opposing memoranda, the court
DENIES Defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgment. |

BACKGROUND

A. FACTUAL BACKGROUND
Defendant Urﬁted Parcel Service ("UPS" or "Defendant”) is a global

package delivery company. Plaintiff Jared Jibben ("Plaintiff") was employed by
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- Defendant in vaﬁous positions and assignments from Séptember 15,1998 to
ﬁovember 20, 2000. Plaintiff asserts that after his ﬁrst three years of employment.
w&th UPS, Defendant promoted Plaintiff to the position of Preload Supervisor in
Las Vegas. Plaintiff claims that he worked in this position from around 1991 until
he was fired by Defendant on November 30, 2000.
On November 21, 1998, Plaintiff suffered a grand mal seizure in
| Scottsdale, Arizona. Defendant rﬁaintzﬁns that foliowing this seizure, Plaintiff
- took a short leave of ébsence, and thé_n he returned fo work. Plaintiff states -that
prior to this seizure, he had only taken one day of .sick -le.ave during his 10.5 years
- of employment with UPS Plaiﬁtiff claims that iﬁ early December of 1 998, he saw
Dr. Randall Moody 11, a neurologist; who diagnosed him as an epileptic.‘
According to Defendqnt, whenl Plaintiff returned to work, he could
not resume the duties of his former job as Package Operations On-Road
Supgrvisor because he could not be certified as physically qualified by the
N Department of Transportation ("DOT"). As a rgsult, Defendant maintains that
Plaintiff was assigned to a temporarﬂy modified position entitled Local Sort,
Preload, and Package Inside Supervisor bécause this position did not requii'e
-Plaintiff to drive. Pl_aintiff state’s. that oh March 31, 1999, he sent a letter to Victor :

Garcia, a member of UPS’s Human Resources Department, requesting that
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Defendant consider him for reassignment to a Human Resource or I_hdustrial ,
Engineering Position in Phoenix, AZ, as a result of his medical cénditi_on.

Defendant asserts that Plaintiff informed Defendant, that follovfiﬁg |
his first seizure, Plaintiff suffered other seizures, which typically occurred at night.
Defendant states that Plaintiff believed that his condition was adversely imﬁacted
by the irregular work and sleep schedule that his posit:ion required, and
conécqucntly,.Plaintiff reque'stéd a different schedule. Defeﬁdant maintaiﬁs that
- UPS temporaﬁly aHoWed Plaintiff to work as a Packa_g_e Inside Supervisor, -
although this position is normally held by specialiéts or assistants. PIaihtiff states
that in November of 1999, he requested to take Short-Term Disability ("STD")
leave. Defendant states that Plaintiff represented to UPS that his seizures héd
been céntinuing_, and Defendant allowed Plaintiff to go on STD leave. Defendant,'
however, argues that although Plaintiff claimed his seizures contihued, his medical
 records indicated that as of November 1999, Plaintiff had not experienced a
seizure since July of 1999. | |

Defendant asserts that under its benefits plan, manageﬁle_ntr employees
may receive STD beﬁeﬁts for the first twelve months following thé onset bf the.
condition thaf prevents the employee from performing the ﬁjnctions of his or her

job at UPS. According to Defendant, Plaintiff began receiving STD benefits in
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November of 1999. D'efendanf claims that when Plaintiff’s doctor released him to
return to work in J anuéry of 2000, the physician spcbiﬁed that Plaintiff’s schedule _
| céuld not vary from day-to-day and he could ndt work more than 45 hours each
week. -

Defendant mainfains_that an essential job function of a full-time
supervisor at UPS is "to be able to work varied hours, a minimum of 9.5 hours per
day, with weekend .Work_ and exteﬁded hours as'nécessary. A normal workweek
for a superviéor/manager at UPS 15 50-55 hours per week, with hours increasing
éubsteintialiy.during UPS’s peal.<. season, which begin;s in October and ends aff.er
‘the Christmas holiday." Defendéﬁt’sMemoranduﬁl of Points and Aqthorities
("Deff_:ndant’s Memorandum"), at 5. _Plaintiff, however, asserj:s that documents
from UPS’s Hufnaﬁ Resources Department indicate that one of tﬁe Essential Job
Functions for é Supervisor/Manager is that this indivi‘dual is able to work "up to.
9.5 hours per day 5 days per week." Plaintiff’s Memorandum in Oppqsition to
Defendant’s Motion (“Plé.intiff’ ] Opposition”), at 2 (citing Exhibit A-1). |
_ Mofeover, Plaintiff states that Doug Leach, a former UPS Business Manager,
.testiﬁed at his deposition that he considered 45 hours per Week to be fullétir_ne |
employment and that supervisors ih soﬁ‘xe departments at UPS typically worked

less hours than supervisors in other departments. Defendant maintains that UPS



allnwed Plaintiff to work in a modified position with reduced hours and job'.
responsibilities due to the restrictions specified by Plamntiff’s docfof, and during
this time, Plaintiff’s STD benefits continued. | | |

In January of 2000, J amés Bamberg, a Manager of Human Relations
at UPS at that time, contacted Harriette Zal ("Zal"), an Occupational "He.alth
Supnrwsor about Plaintiff’s case. Plaintiff claims that in notes that Zal wrote
about hls case, she wrote that Plaintiff was taking' SOOmg of tegratol and that "31de '
effects from tegratol - thought processes and sexual drive." Plaintiff’s Opposition,
at-6. Plaintiff mainteﬁns that Zal also noted in his Etnplnyee History anﬁlc'that l_ie
returned to work in February of ZOQO and experienned nocturnal seizures on
4/18/00 and 5/12/00 due to stress. Plaintiff also claims that Zal recorded that the
sinle effects from his medication were severe. |

Defendant asserts that when Plaintiff returned to wofk, Plaintiff left
every day after working nine hours whether or not he had complfeted the ésssntial
functions of hisjob and that ns a result, other supervisors were required to'assume
- the extra duties that Plalntlff had not completed. Plaintiff states that he stopped
working in May of 2000 due to additional seizures he was experiencing, Wthh

WEre more freq_uent and severe. Defendant maintains that from November 1999 to

November 2000, Plaintiff received STD benefits because even while he wofkcd n
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the modified position from February to May of 2000, Plaintiff could not resume
work in his re-gular poSition.

Defendaht states that during the time Plaintiff was not working and

‘was receiving STD beneﬁts from UPS between May-and November of 2000,

. Plaintiff "tfa\}eled from Las Vegas to Phoenix- to see his doctor, attended weekly
classes at the University of Phoenix, completed his master’s degree in business
administration, soid his héme in Las 'Vegas, purphased a ho_me in Pennsylvania,
moved to Peﬁnsylvania, and continué_d to receive his full paycheck as an STD |

-Eeneﬁt." Defendant’s Memorandum, at 6. Defendaﬂt maintains that when -

. Plaintiff moved from Arizona to P_ennsylvania, -flaintiff did not hire a moﬁng

company, bﬁt drove his family’s furniture and belongings to his new home on his

‘Defendant contends that PI_aiﬁtiff telephoned Defendant on

| apprIOXimately Novembér 10, 2000 to discuss returning to work in January of 2001
| 1n a position that would meet his restrictions of only being able to work 45 hours
per week on ra non-variable schedule. Defendam states that becaﬁse of the ﬁafurc
of its business, if does not have ﬁlll—timg maﬁagement positions for which Plaintiff

| is qualified that meet the requirements of Plaintiff’s work restrictions. Plailitiff,

however, states that in 1999 when he worked as the Local Sort Supervisor, his
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hbﬁrs did not vary. Defendant claims that James Bamberg discussed possible_
alternative positions with Plaintiff and concluded that no positions existed for |
-‘which Plaintiff was qualified. Defendant asserts that P.laintiff fepresented that hé
was not interésted n pért-time employment. |

Defendant maintains that under its Cigna Flcx Benefits Plan ("the
| Plaﬁ"), Plaintiff’s STD benefits expired on November 30, 2000, twelve m-onths.
after Plaintiff began rerceiv_ing them. Asa result, Defendant states that Plaiﬂﬁff
- was administrétively separated from UPS at this ti.me. Defendant further claims |
that after he was terminated, Plaintiff refused to fill out the paperworkfequired 50
that he could receive Long Term Disability ("LTD") Benefits because Plaintiff B
asserted that he did not regard himself as disabled. | |
| In response, Plaintiff states that the Plan states that an employee
cannot be terminated unless he has had a continuous absence from work, and the
- Plan does not St.ate that an employee is considered absent if he is not working in
his "regular full job." Plaintiff’s Opposition, at 8. Plaintiff asserts that the Plan
. states that if a management enﬁployee returns to work for thirty (30) days and then
goes back on STD leave for the same disability, a new period of tv-velve ﬁonths
leave is pennifted. Furtherniore, Plaintiff claims that the letfefs that Cigna,

Defendant’s then insurance company, sent to him indicated that Cigna was treating
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his claim for STD benefits in May of 2000 as a new claim, instead of a.
éontinuation of his claim from November 1999.

Defendant maintains that Plaintiff has worked three full-time jobs
since he was terminated at UPS. Whilc.Plaintiff worked at Airborne Express as an
On Road Supervisor from March 30, 2001 to May 15, 2001, Defendant states that

Plaintiff worked 40 hours per week and did not retluest or require acconuno.dations
' based on his condition. Defendant maintains that Plaintiff resigned from his
position af Airborne Express after being assigﬁed to a position that involved fewer
' duties but recgived the same level of pay. According to Defeﬁdant, from
September 10, 2001 to J anuary 20_02,‘ Plaintiff worked at Custom Global Logistics
in a full-time position, and during thi_s time Plaintiff did not 'rg:quest or require
accommodations for his condition.. Defendant _maihtains that since September 23,
2002, Plaintiff has worked at Home Finanée America as a marketing consultant,

| which requires working 740 hours a week. Defendant claims that at_'p'resent, |
"Plaintiff can Work up to 45 hours per week, read, sit, stand, hear, see, watch TV,
sleep, drive,rand care for himseif. Pl_aintiff sh()ps for food and 0ther items, runs

| eﬁands, grooms himself, and perfofms household chores, including taking out the

garbage, vacuuming, and mowing the lawn." Defendant’s Memorandum, at 7.



On January 9, 2002, Plaintiff Jared Jibbeﬁ (“Plaintiff ) filed a | )
Complaint alleging that Defendant ‘United Parcel Service (“Defeﬁdant”) violated
Section 107(a) of the Americans with Disabilities Act (“ADA”), 42 US.C. |
§ 12117. Complaint, atﬁ 1. Plaintiff’s first cause of action alleges that Defendant |
refused to raccommodate Plaintiff reasonably, in violation of § 102(b)(5)(A) of the
ADA, 42 U.S.C’. § 12111(8). Complaint, at § 29. Plaintiff’s second cause of |
actibn alleges that Defendant wrongfully terminated him -on the basis of his o
disability, in violation of Section 102 of the ADA, 42 U.S.C. Section 12112.
Complaint, at § 35. Plaintiff’s third cause of action alleges that Defen&ant’s
pracﬁces constitute unlawful discriminatory employmerit practices under the
Nevada Equal Employment Opportunity Act, Nevada Revised Statufes 613...3 10 et.

seq. Complaint, at § 42.

B. PROCEDURAL BAC_KGROUND
Qn. May 8, 2003, Defendant filed its Motion for Summary Judgment
("Defendant’s. Motion"). ‘Plaintiff filed its Opposition to Defendant’s Motion
("Plaintiff’s oppositién") on June 16, 2003.. Defendant filed its Réply to

Plaintiff’s Oppositioﬁ (“Defehdant’s Reply”) on July 15, 2003.



STANDARD OF REVIEW
Summary judgment is appropriate when there is no genuine issue as
to any material fact and the moviﬁg party is entiﬂed to judgment as a matter of
law. Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(c). The moving party hﬁs the initial burden of "identifying
for the couﬁ fhc poﬁions of the materials on file that it believes demonstrate the |

absence of any genuine issue of material fact.” T.W. Elec. Serv.. Inc. v. Pacific

Elec. Contractors Ass'n, 8709 F.2d 626, 630 (9% Cir. 1987) (citing Celotex Corp. v.
Catrett, 477 US. 317, 323 (1986)). o

If the moving party meets its burden,. then the opposing party may not
defeat a motion for summary judgment in the absence of any signiﬁcant probativé

evidence tending to support its legal theory. Commodity Future.s Trading COmm_‘n

v. Savage, 611 F.2d 270, 282 (9" Cir. 1979). The opposing party can neither stand
on its pleadings, nor can it simply assert that it will be able to discredit the
movant's evidence at trial. T.W. Elec. -Serv., 809 F.2d at 630; Fed. R. Civ. P.

- 56(e). In a motion for summary judgment, the court must view the facts in the

light most favorable to the non-moving party. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co. v. |

Martin, 872 F.2d 319, 320 (9* Cir. 1989).
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DISCUSSION
| Defendant claims that Plaintiff has not established a prima facia caé.e
of disabi]ity discrimination under the ADA and the I\.Ir%:\-rada Equal Employ@ent
Opportunity Act. As a preliminary matter, this court notes that Nevada courts look
to the ADA for guidance in applying Nevada statutes b(;cause the langﬁagé of the

' Nevada Equal Employment Opportunity Act is similar to the language of the

Americans with Disabilities Act (“ADA”). Hirschhorn v. Sizzler Restaurants Int’l
Inc., 913 F. Supp. 1393, 1398 (D. Nev. 1995).

The ADA prohibits disability-based discrimination agains‘trany. '
qualified individual wi-th. a disabili_t_y with regard 't(-) job application procedures,
hiring, advancement, or termination of employees. 42 U.S.C. § 12112(a) (2000).
Tﬁe parties do not dispute that UPS is lsubject td the ADA. De_fendaht’s'Motion '
To Dismiss, at 9. In order to establish a prima facia case under the ADA, Plaintiff
must demonstrate that 1) he is a disabled person under the meaning of the ADA;
2) hé isa qualiﬁ.ed person, which means thét he can per.form the essential
functions of his job With or Wi.t.hout' reasonable accommodation; and 3) UPS

terminated him because of his disability. See Cooper v. Nieman Marcus Group,

125 F.3d 786, 790 (9" Cir. 1997); Kennedy v. Applause, 90 F.3d 1477, 1481 (9*
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Cir. 1996). The parties dispute whether Plaintiff has satisfied the first two

requirements.

A. A GENUINE ISSUE OF MATERIALS FACT EXISTS AS TO
WHETHER PLAINTIFF IS DISABLED UNDER THE ADA -

The ADA defines a "disability” as
(a) a physical 6r mental impairment that substantially limits oﬁé'or |
more major life activities of [an] individual;
(b) a record of such an impairment; or _
(c) being regarded as having such an impairment |
42 U..S.C. §1.2102(2) (2000). Defendant statés that Plaintiff cannot Iﬁeet his
- burden to demonstrate that he is disabled under tﬁe ADA because his condition
| - does not fall into the 'pafameters of any of these three requirements. Defeﬁdént’s
Memqrandu.m in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment ("Defendant’s
_Mérnorandum"),af 10. | | |
The court first examines whether Plaintiff has a physical or mental
impairment that substantially limits one or more of his major life ac'ti'vities. The
court notes that the_landscape of ADA Iit'igation.has changed since the Supreme
Court’s deciéion in Sutton v. United Airlines. 527 U.S. 471 (1999). Prior to the
| cdurt’s decision in Sutton, courts determined on a case-by-case basis whether an
individuai was substantially limited in é majpr life activity without considering

possible mitigating devices available to improve an individual’s condition, such as
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medicines, or assistive or prosthetic devices. Otting v. J.C. Penny, 223 F.3d 704,

709 (8“" Cir. 2000). In Sutton, the Supreme Court established that when courts
determine whether a person is disabled under the ADA, they must consider the

corrective measures taken by an individual to counteract the effects of their

disability on a case-by-case basis. Sutton, 527 U.S. at 488.
In the instant case, Plaintiff has represented that he is epileptic.
Plaintiff’s Opposition, at 14. In explaining his condition, Plaintiff has stated that
I expen'endc seizures approximately once or twice a month, which are
nocturnal. During such seizures, I am unable to walk, speak, hear or
work. 1may be unconscious and lack control of my body. The
seizures last approximately 30 seconds to two minutes and the after
effects of the seizures, tiredness, shakiness and difficulty
concentrating may last as long as twenty-four hours or thirty-six
hours. . . . My ability to sleep regularly is substantially impaired by
my condition. I suffer from extreme fatigue, which largely is the
result of the medication I take to control my epilepsy.
Affidavit of Jared Jibben, at § 6. Numerous courts have considered the question of
whether an epileptic has a physical or mental impairment that substantially limits
one or more major life activities. The court finds instruction in these opinions.
In Otting v. J.C. Penny Co., the Eighth Circuit considered whether
Plaintiff Otting’s epilepsy substantially limited one or more of her major life

activities. 223 F.3d-704 (8" Cir. 2000). Otting worked as a sales associate at

Defendant J.C. Penny and was transferred to work in the shoe department. Id. at
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707. Plaintiff went on medical leave dne to her condition, and upon desiring to
return to Work, her doctor informed her that he could not release her to perform

“one function oi‘ the job that involved climbing a iaddcr to retrieve boxes of shoes.
Defendant informed Plaintiff that she could not retnrn to work if she had any

| medical restrictions, and latér términated Plaintiff. Id. at 707-08.

- At trial, testimony indicated that Otting regularly suffered seizures,
and while the seizures were sporadic, tiiey occurred frequently enough that she

- was legally prohibited from driving aind could not bathe by herself because of
: r:oncems that she could drown if zi seizure occurrr:d. Id. at 710. Otting suffered
. two or three seizures a rnonth, and during her seiznres, She could not see, hear,
speak, walk, or work. Her seizures lasted between 30 seconds and two minutes,

_ and after they occnrred_, she would_ be lethargic, shaky, and have problems
concentrating. Id. While Defendant arguéd that climbing a ladder was not a major
life activity, the court specifically noted that'when Plaintiff experienced a seizure,
she could not see,'hear, speak, walk, or work, and the court determined these were
the major life activities it should _focns on in making its decision. Id. Based on
this record, the Eighth Circuit. conclulded that Otting did suffer a physicai
impainnent that substantially limited rhe major life activities of walking, seeing

and speaking. Id. at 711.




In considering -the case Currently before the couﬁ, -this'_court
concludes that many similarities e_ﬁist between Plaintiff Jibben’s case and the case
in ch_ng Like Otting, Jibben has represenfed that duriné hi.s seizures he is unable
to Walk, speak, hear, or work. Furthermore, like Otting, Jibben hﬁs asserted that
his seizurés last approximately 30 seconds to two minutes, and after 'th_e seiéures
he experiences tiredness, shakiness, and difficulty poncentrating. He has iclaimed
that he has experienced "as many as 3 or 4 seizures in one day and had 3 or 4
seizures durihg one monfh a number of times." Pléintiff’ s Opposition, at 8.

In response, Defendant encourage-s this court to consider éeveral other
cases where courts have detemincd that individuals’ epilepsy did not substantially
limit one or more major life activities. Defendant’s Reply, at 12-14. However, the
court cohcludes that each of these cases is distinguishable frqr_n the case currently
before it because in those caseé, the epileptic’s condition was entirely controlled
* by medication dr.the condition was less severe than the condition alleged by_
Jibben. See Qtimg, 223 F ..3d at 711 n.4 (distinguishing Otting’s case from a
number of cases where courts.had concluded that an epileptic’s condition did not
- substantially li'ﬁlit méjor life activities). | |
F.or instance, 1n Todd V.lAcademy Cm_p.,ﬂ the coﬁrt concluded'tl‘iat

Plaintiff Todd’s condition did not substantially limit a major life activity. 57 F.
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 Supp. 2d 448, 454 (S.D. Tex. 1999). In explaining its reasoning the court noted
_that. Todd "oniy suffered from ‘Iight seizures’ as'opp'ose'd to seizures of the ionger
'- and more serious grand mal variety. . . . These light seizures typically last from
five to fifteen seCﬁnds, approximately once a week . . . . During the seizure,

| Piainti_ff" s thiﬁking is ‘cloudy’ but he is able to hear and see people but is unable

to speak.” Id. at 753. See also Equal Employment Opportunity Commission v.

~ Sara Lee Corporation, 237 F.3d 349, 352-53 (4" C11' 2001_) (concluding that

plaintiff’s condition did not substantially limit a major life activity when Plaintiff
testified that the primary effects of her condition weré "only that sometimes she
- would Wakc_'up'with a bruise on her body, that she would sporadically ‘zone out’

- during the day, and that on occasion she wet her bed"); Popko v. Pennsylvania

- State University, 84 F. Supp. 2d 589, 593-94 (M.D. Pa. 2000) (ﬁhding that
plaintiff was not disabled under the ADA evidence showed that "[e]ven when
plaintiff does not treat hér epilepsy by getti.ng a regular night’s sleep,' she
experiences at mdst, a generalized shakiness in the morning which resolves .itsel'f
relatively quickly"); Arnold v. Ci‘g[. 'o_f Appleton, 97 F. Supp. 2d 937, 945, 948
(E'.'D. Wisc. 2000) (Concluding that plaintiff was not disabled under the ADA .
when epileptic conceded that his condiﬁon was controlled by medication and that

he did not have a disability that limited a major life activity); Rutlin v. Prime
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SuﬁceSsion, Inc., 75 F. Supp. 2d 735, 737, 738 (W.D. Mich. 1999)' _(stating that
plaintiff’s conditiqn did not substantially limit major life activitie.s when epileptic
conceded that his seizures were generally controlled through medications, and. hé '
had only ever experienced three seizures).

Instéad this court concludes that the condition that Plaintiff has
dcscﬁbed that h‘e suffers from bears more similarities to the conditions alléged by |
epileptics in cases where courts have concluded that a genuiﬁe issue of material
- fact existed as to whether the epileptic’s conditio_n. substantially limited a rﬁajor'

life activity. See e.g., Lane v. Harborside Healthcare-Westwood Rehab. and

Nu_rsing Center, Civ. No. 01-050_—JD, 2002 WL 1674184, *7 (D.N.H. 2002)
(concluding that epileptic had shown sufficient facts that a trialworthy issué
exis_tédlés to whether her condition substantially limited major life activitié§ when
pl'aintiff had alleged, among other tﬁing_s, that during Selzures, she could not

- "walk, stand,lsp'eak, see, think, control her movements, perfonn manual tasks, or
care of herself, for repeated peﬁods of thirty seconds to two minutes"); Rowles v.

Automated Production Systems, 92 F. Supp..2d 424, 430 (M.D. Pa'.ZOOO)_ (stating

that court could not determine as a matter of law that epileptic’s condition did not

sﬁbstantially limit him in major life activities when Plaintiff had "presén_t_ed.
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compelling evidence that in addition to occasionally experiencing seizures —
_Which uﬁdisputedly Iirilit[ed] hlS abiljty to walk, talk, speak, see, heeir, and work —
' thé precautions he must take . . . in order to reduce the likelihood of seizures
substantially limits him™). This court cannot conclude as a matter of law that no
reasonable jurof could find that Plaintiff’s sefz_ure condition substantially limits a
major life activities. Consequently, the court determines that a genuine issue of
material fact exists regarding this Question. .Since the cburt_ has concluded that a
genuine issué of maferial fact exists as to whether Piaintiff has a condition that
substantially limits major life actix}ities, the court does not consider whethef_an
~ issue of material fact exists as to whether Defendant regarded Plaintiff as disabled.
B. A GENUINE ISSUE OF MATERIAL FACT EXISTS AS TO
WHETHER PLAINTIFF CAN PERFORM THE ESSENTIAL
- FUNCTIONS OF THE JOB ‘
'Iﬁ addition to demonstrating that he is disabled under the ADA, -
Plaintiff must alsq demonstrate that he is a qualified person with a disability,
which means fhat he can perform the essenti_al,functions of his job with or without
reasonable accommodation. See Copper V. Nie_nian Marcus Group, 125 F.3d 786,
790.(9‘h Cir. 1997); Kennedy v. App_lause; 90 F.3d 1477, 1481 (9™ Cir. 1996). To
deterrm’ne whether a person is a qualiﬁéd individual with a disability, courts

engage in a two—rstep analysis: "[t]he first step is to determine if the individual
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